Filed 05-28-2020

Page 1 of 24

RECEIVED
05-28-2020
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

District I

Case No. 2020AP000878 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

AVAN NIMMER,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON OCTOBER 16, 2019, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE GLENN YAMAHIRO PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF APPELLANT

MARK S. ROSEN
ROSEN AND HOLZMAN
400 W. MORELAND BLVD., SUITE C
WAUKESHA, WI 53188
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant
State Bar No. 1019297
email: roseholz@sbcglobal.net

#

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

I. Whether or not the trial court had correctly denied Defendant's Fourth Amendment Suppression Motion seeking suppression

of the evidence resulting from the stop of his person when there was insufficient reasonable suspicion to justify that stop?

Trial Court Answered: The Motion had been denied.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Appeal involves issues of law which are not settled. Arguments need to be presented in more detail in oral argument. Therefore, oral argument and publication are requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 17, 2019, Defendant Avan Nimmer was charged in a one Count Criminal Complaint in Milwaukee County. The one Count charged Defendant with Possession of a Firearm by a Felon, contrary to Wis. Stats. Sec. 941.29(lm)(a), and 939.50(3)(g). This was Criminal Case 19 CF 2611. This was a Class G felony which carried a maximum possible penalty of a fine of not more than Twenty Five Thousand Dollars or imprisonment not to exceed ten years or both. (1:1-2).

The Criminal Complaint charged Defendant with possessing a firearm as a felon. According to the Complaint, police officers responded to a Shotspotter alert on their portal at approximately 10:04 p.m.. The alert indicated that the shots had been fired at 3390 N. 21<sup>st</sup> Street, Milwaukee. Upon arrival at the scene, the

police saw the Defendant away from the Shotspotter alert. Defendant had his right hand in his pocket. According to the police, upon seeing the police vehicle, the Defendant started to walk away. One of the officers in the vehicle exited the police car and began approaching the Defendant. At that time, the Defendant began reaching towards his left side and blading his left side away from the officer. The police officer began patting down the Defendant. The Defendant admitted that he had a firearm on his waistline. The police recovered a firearm. Defendant had previously been convicted of a felony. (1:1-2).

On June 18, 2019, an initial appearance occurred. At that time, the Court Commissioner had informed the Defendant of the charge and the maximum possible penalties. (22:1-2).

On June 25, 2019, the trial court conducted a preliminary hearing. After taking testimony and other evidence, probable cause was found and the Defendant was bound over for trial. (23:12).

On June 25, 2019, the State filed an Information charging Defendant with the one Count charged in the Criminal Complaint. This was immediately after the preliminary hearing. (4:1-1). On that date, the Defendant entered a plea of Not Guilty to the one Count. (23:12).

Subsequently, Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress Fruits of Illegal Detention and Frisk. Defendant filed this Motion on July 10, 2019. By this Motion, Defendant had alleged that the police did not have enough evidence to stop Defendant on June 15, 2019. According to the Motion, the police lacked reasonable suspicion to conduct this stop. Defendant sought to suppress any and all physical evidence taken from him at the scene of his detention and arrest. This physical evidence consisted of the firearm indicated in the Criminal Complaint. (5:1-3).

On August 19, 2019, the trial court conducted an evidentiary motion hearing on Defendant's Suppression Motion. After the evidentiary hearing, and hearing oral arguments, the trial court orally denied Defendant's suppression motion. (25:35-37; A 104-106).

Defendant entered a guilty plea to the one charge in the Information on October 16, 2019. The plea was pursuant to plea negotiations. After conducting a plea colloquy, the trial court found Defendant guilty. (26:2-7).

On October 16, 2019, the trial court conducted a sentencing hearing immediately after the guilty plea hearing. On that date, the trial court sentenced Defendant to four years in the Wisconsin State prison system. This consisted of two years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (26:18). That same day, the trial court issued a Judgment of Conviction. (14:1-2; A 101-102). Defendant subsequently timely filed his Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief. (16:1-1).

Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal in a timely manner.

(20:1-1). This Brief has been filed within the schedule established by the Court.

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 17, 2019, Defendant Avan Nimmer was charged in a one Count Criminal Complaint in Milwaukee County. The one Count charged Defendant with Possession of a Firearm by a Felon, contrary to Wis. Stats. Sec. 941.29(lm) (a), and 939.50(3)(g). This was Criminal Case 19 CF 2611. This was a Class G felony which carried a maximum possible penalty of a fine of not more than Twenty Five Thousand Dollars or imprisonment not to exceed ten years or both. (1:1-2). The ten years would consist of a maximum possible initial confinement period of five years, with a maximum possible extended supervision period of also five years.

The Criminal Complaint charged Defendant with possessing a firearm as a felon. According to the Complaint, police officers Boyack and Milone responded to a Shotspotter alert on their portal at approximately 10:04 p.m.. Officer Boyack had prepared the police reports that had formed the basis for the Criminal Complaint. The alert indicated that the shots had been fired at 3390 N. 21st Street, Milwaukee. Upon arrival at the scene, the police saw the Defendant. Defendant had his right hand in his pocket. According to the police, upon seeing the police vehicle, the Defendant started

On June 18, 2019, an initial appearance occurred. At that time, the Court Commissioner had informed the Defendant of the charge and the maximum possible penalties. (22:1-2).

On June 25, 2019, the trial court conducted a preliminary hearing. The State's sole witness had been Officer Chad Boyack. After taking testimony and other evidence, probable cause was found and the Defendant was bound over for trial. (23:12).

On June 25, 2019, the State filed an Information charging Defendant with the one Count charged in the Criminal Complaint. This was immediately after the preliminary hearing. (4:1-1). On that date, the Defendant entered a plea of Not Guilty to the one Count. (23:12).

Subsequently, Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress Fruits of Illegal Detention and Frisk. Defendant filed this Motion on July 10, 2019. By this Motion, Defendant had alleged that the police did not have enough evidence to stop Defendant on June 15, 2019. According to the Motion, the police lacked reasonable suspicion to

conduct this stop. Defendant sought to suppress any and all physical evidence taken from him at the scene of this detention and arrest. This physical evidence consisted of the firearm indicated in the Criminal Complaint. (5:1-3).

On August 19, 2019, the trial court had conducted an evidentiary motion hearing on Defendant's Suppression Motion.

On August 19, 2019, the State's sole witness had been police officer Anthony Milone. He testified that on June 15, 2019, he was working as a late power shift officer along with officer Chad Boyack. Milone had been alerted to a Shotspotter call in the area of 3390 N.  $21^{\text{st}}$  Street, Milwaukee. The alert arrived at about 10:06 p.m.. At the time, he and Boyack were traveling northbound on North 20<sup>th</sup> Street from West Hopkins street. Upon receiving the alert, they continued traveling northbound on 20th Street towards Shotspotter alert, 3390 N. 21st Street, with four rounds having been fired in that location. Upon arrival, they turned west onto West Townsend Street, which is the 3400 block from North 20th Street. At the corner of  $21^{\rm st}$  Street and Townsend, the officers observed the Defendant. At that time, he had his right hand in his right pants pocket. Defendant then turned and looked at the squad and began walking away at an "accelerated pace." (25:6-8). After walking away, Milone observed the Defendant digging around his left side with his left hand. Milone stepped out of the vehicle and began approaching the Defendant. Defendant then began turning his left

side away from him. His left hand was not visible. Boyack had then drove past the Defendant and after he drove past him, Boyack had stepped out. The Defendant had then stopped walking. Milone then conducted a pat down of the Defendant. Defendant had then indicated "the gun is in my waistband, bro'." Milone had then recovered a gun on the left side of the Defendant's waistband. (25:9-10).

At the time the police had received the alert on June 15, 2019, they were approximately three blocks away from where the alert had occurred. When they get the alert, they do not get any description of the potential suspect or suspects. The alert does not give any identifying information for who the shooter might have been. The address for the alert is a distance from south of 21st and Townsend.  $21^{st}$  and Townsend is where the police had stopped the Defendant. At 3390 N.  $21^{\rm st}$  Street is the last house on the corner of that intersection and then there is a field, and then there is the sidewalk and Townsend Street. At the time the police saw the Defendant, he was walking west on Townsend, on the southeast corner. At the time the police approached the Defendant, they did not have their flashing lights or sirens on. After the Defendant looked at the vehicle, he did not start to run. (25:13-15). He did not attempt to flee. He never went into a full sprint. While the squad was behind the Defendant, Milone had exited the squad. Milone had to walk past the squad to get to the Defendant. Milone got behind the Defendant. When Milone first got past the Defendant, he

was twenty to twenty five feet past Milone. At some point, while Milone was behind the Defendant, Milone told the Defendant to raise his hands. Defendant did raise his hands upon command. As he was walking away, he had raised his arms when directed to raise his arms. He was just walking away from Milone. (25:16-17). Upon exiting the vehicle, it is possible that Officer Boyack grabbed the Defendant's left wrist. Defendant was seized. Milone then immediately started to pat him down. Defendant then volunteered that he had a firearm in his left waistband. Defendant did not resist. He was cooperative. (25:18-19).

Defendant subsequently testified on his own behalf.

After the evidentiary hearing, and hearing oral arguments, the trial court orally denied Defendant's suppression motion. The court found that the police conduct was completely appropriate in the investigation of the Shotspotter complaint. (25:35-37; A 104-106).

Defendant entered a guilty plea to the one charge in the Information on October 16, 2019. The plea was pursuant to plea negotiations. The plea negotiations were that the State would be recommending eighteen months initial confinement followed by twenty four months extended supervision. (26:2). After conducting a plea colloquy, the trial court found Defendant guilty. (26:2-7).

On October 16, 2019, the trial court conducted a sentencing hearing immediately after the guilty plea hearing. On that date, the trial court sentenced Defendant to four years in the Wisconsin

State prison system. This consisted of two years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (26:18). That same day, the trial court issued a Judgment of Conviction. (14:1-2; A 101-102). Defendant subsequently timely filed his Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief. (16:1-1).

Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal in a timely manner. (20:1-1). This Brief has been filed within the schedule established by the Court.

#### ARGUMENT

I. LAW ENFORCEMENT'S STOP OF DEFENDANT ON JUNE 15, 2019 WAS ILLEGAL AND IMPERMISSIBLE. CONTRARY TO THE TRIAL COURT, THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT REASONABLE SUSPICION TO WARRANT THE STOP. THE TRIAL COURT HAD MATERIALLY ERRED IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS THE RESULTING SEIZED FIREARM.

Searches conducted without a warrant are generally unreasonable. State vs. Matejka, 241 Wis.2d 52, 621 N.W.2d 891 (2001). The State has the burden of proof that a warrantless search was legal. Id. at 60.

Unreasonable seizures are prohibited. An "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch'..." will not suffice. Terry vs. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). Law enforcement officers may only infringe on the individual's interest to be free of a stop and detention if they have a suspicion grounded in specific, articulable facts and reasonable inferences

from those facts, that the individual has committed a crime. State vs. Guzy, 139 Wis.2d 663, 407 N.W.2d 548 (1987).

Evidence seized as the result of illegal search and seizure is to be suppressed by virtue of the exclusionary rule. Wong Sun vs. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 9 L.Ed.2d 441, 83 S.Ct. 407 (1963); State vs. Knapp, 285 Wis.2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899 (2005); State vs. Harris, 199 Wis.2d 227, 544 N.W.2d 545 (1996).

The Court of Appeals applies a two step standard of review to the question of whether or not reasonable suspicion exists to justify a stop. The Court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless clearly erroneous. However, the Court of Appeals will determine de novo whether the facts as found demonstrate a constitutional violation. State vs. Williams, 241 Wis.2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106 (2001). State vs. Kolk, 298 Wis.2d 99, 726 N.W.2d 337 (Ct.App. 2006). Questions of the existence of reasonable suspicion are constitutional facts. Id. at 298 Wis.2d 99 at 107.

An individual has a right to walk away from a police officer. Without more, backing away from a police officer is not sufficient objective evidence supporting a reasonable suspicion that criminal activity is afoot or that the individual was a threat. Further, an individual's presence in an area of expected criminal activity, standing alone, is not enough to support a reasonable particularized suspicion that a person is committing a crime. State vs. Pugh, 345 Wis.2d 832, 826 N.W.2d 418 (Ct.App. 2012), citing

<u>Illinois vs. Wardlow</u>, 528 U.S. 119, 124, 120 S.Ct. 673, 145 L.ED.2d 570 (2000).

Seeing a suspect in front of a vacant house is insufficient reason to stop him even though: (1) the officer knew that the suspect did not live in the area, (2) the suspect had been previously arrested for selling narcotics, and (3) the police had received a complaint that someone was loitering or drug sales at that house. State vs. Washington, 284 Wis.2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305 (Ct.App. 2005).

In <u>Pugh</u>, the Court of Appeals had further concluded that Defendant's conduct of "blading" insufficient to constitute reasonable suspicion. This, even coupled with Pugh being near some illegally parked cars and his presence directly to the south of an apartment building that the arresting officers had been personally involved in several drug dealing investigations. In <u>Pugh</u>, the officers first saw him five to ten feet from two cars that were parked below a No Parking sign at the back of an apartment building. Five seconds after first seeing Pugh, the officer turned his squad spotlight on him. After shining the light on Pugh, who had been walking a little to the south, went back between the cars. The police had then walked over to Pugh and had begun to ask him some questions about what he was doing at the location. Pugh had no information about any drug dealing at the house. The drug house was some fifty feet from where they were standing. The officer never

saw Pugh any closer. There were no lights on the drug house. Nevertheless, the police physically seized Pugh. The police testified that Pugh was blading the right side of his body away from them as he was walking away just immediately prior to this physical seizure. State vs. Pugh, 345 Wis.2d 832 at 835-838.

In <u>Pugh</u>, the Court had concluded that Pugh's conduct did not arise to the level of reasonable suspicion. With respect to the "blading," the Court had asked "How does a person walk away from another (as Pugh had the right to do) without turning his or her body to some degree? Calling a movement that would accompany any walking away "blading" adds nothing to the calculus except a false patina of objectivity." <u>Id.</u> at 843. The Court found that the officers had no objective reasonable suspicion to justify a <u>Terry</u> stop, and seizure. <u>Id.</u> at 843-844. This, even with the "blading" conduct, the high crime area, the relatively close proximity to a well known drug house of approximately fifty feet, and Defendant's conduct of walking away upon seeing the police.

In <u>State vs. Washington</u>, the police had been on patrol on the 1600 block of West Locust Street in the city of Milwaukee. This, in order to investigate a specific complaint of loitering and drug sales at an allegedly vacant house. Washington had been in front of that specific house. After one of the police officers recognized him from past encounters, the police had ordered him to stop. Washington stopped initially, but also took a few steps backwards,

and allegedly "looked nervous." He then threw his hands up and a towel flew from his hand. At that point, the police pushed him to the ground and seized him. The towel had contained cocaine. State vs. Washington, 280 Wis.2d 456 at 459-460.

In <u>Washington</u>, the Court had concluded that Washington had stopped when ordered to do so. This, even though he had taken a few steps backwards. He stopped when the police had told him to stop. <u>Id.</u> At 469. Further, the Court had found that at the time the police initially pulled over and ordered Washington to stop, they lacked the requisite reasonable suspicion Investigating a vague complaint of loitering and drug sales, and observing Washington in the area near a house that the officer believed to be vacant, even taken in combination with the officer's past experiences with Washington and his knowledge of the area, had not supplied the requisite reasonable suspicion for a valid investigatory stop. People have a right to walk down the street without being subjected to unjustified police stops. <u>Id.</u> at 471. The police had suppressed the drugs by virtue of the exclusionary rule. <u>Id.</u> at 472.

In the present situation, the case for finding that the police had lacked reasonable suspicion to conduct the stop of the Defendant is more persuasive than the facts in either <u>Pugh</u> or <u>Washington</u>. Here, the police had observed the Defendant away from the Shotspotter alert. He was past a field and on a completely different street. This had been a residential area. He was merely

walking away. The police did not see any weapon, or have any indication that he was committing, or had committed any crime, specifically any shooting that had led to the alert. He had his hand in his right pocket. Upon the police following him, the Defendant began walking away, but faster. However, he raised his hands upon command. Although he had been "blading" his body, this is a subjective opinion by Milone. As the Court had clearly indicated in Pugh, such purported conduct is insufficient to justify reasonable suspicion. Here, as discussed, unlike the situation in Pugh, Defendant was away from the Shotspotter alert location. Pugh was just south of the alleged drug dealing house, approximately fifty feet away. In Pugh, Pugh had turned and had walked away, getting between two parked cars. Here, Defendant had been walking away, but had raised his hands upon command. Further, unlike Washington, the police had no history with the Defendant. In that case, Washington had taken a few steps backwards, but with his hands raised. Also, in Washington, like here, the police had an alert as to criminal conduct. However, in both Pugh and Washington, the Court of Appeals had found that the police had found insufficient reasonable suspicion to justify the warrantless stop. The situation here is no different, and under the circumstances, contained even less reasonable suspicion than either of those two cases. The trial court's oral decision conclusion that the police had acted appropriately is materially erroneous. It must be

reversed.

Under the circumstances, there is insufficient totality of the circumstances to justify the stop. The police had lacked reasonable suspicion to justify the stop. This Court must order suppression of any the firearm evidence seized from the Defendant. The Court must also reverse the Judgement of Conviction.

#### CONCLUSION

The trial court had materially erred in Denying Defendant's Fourth Amendment Suppression Motion. Law enforcement did not have reasonable suspicion to justify the stop of the Defendant. This Court must reverse the trial court's Denial of the Stop Motion, and Order suppression of the results of the search of Defendant's person, to consist of the seized firearm.

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