Filed 05-24-2021

Page 1 of 27

FILED 05-24-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP878-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

AVAN RONDELL NIMMER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING A DECISION AND JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE GLENN H. YAMAHIRO, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

ISSUE PRESENTED			
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION			
INTRODUCTION			
STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
STANDARD OF REVIEW			
ARGUMENT			
Based on the ShotSpotter alert, Nimmer's location at the alerted-to address, and his evasive behavior upon seeing law enforcement, police had reasonable suspicion to stop him			
A. Reasonable suspicion requires a totality-of-the-circumstances analysis			
B. The officers here had reasonable suspicion to conduct a <i>Terry</i> stop of Nimmer based on the totality of the circumstances			
1. The ShotSpotter report should be weighed as a reliable tip6			
2. The immediate timing of the police response likewise supports reasonable suspicion			
3. The officers' observations of Nimmer's reaction to them likewise supported reasonable suspicion			

Page

	4.	The nature of the crime investigated also weighs toward reasonable suspicion
С.	the test	court of appeals failed to apply totality-of-the-circumstances when it omitted and isolated ant facts
D.	consi	circuit court's ruling was stent with Wisconsin's Fourth- ndment jurisprudence12
	1.	The circuit court's reasoning and analysis comported with controlling precedent
	2.	The circuit court's ruling was consistent with unpublished Wisconsin cases involving police response to a shots-
		fired report 15
CONCLUS	SION	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Commonwealth v. Meneus, 66 N.E.3d 1019 (Mass. 2017)
D.C. v. Wesby, 138 S. Ct. 577 (2018)
 State v. Bellamy, No. A-2978-16T2, 2018 WL 2925724 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. June 12, 2018)
State v. David Paul Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990)

Page
State v. Gordon, 2014 WI App 44, 353 Wis. 2d 468, 846 N.W.2d 483 13, 14
State v. Lewis, No. 2017AP234-CR, 2017 WL 3149755 (Wis. Ct. App. July 25, 2017)
State v. Miller, 2012 WI 61, 341 Wis. 2d 307, 815 N.W.2d 349 6
State v. Norton, No. 2019AP1796-CR, 2020 WL 2049123 (Wis. Ct. App. Apr. 14, 2020)
State v. Pugh, 2013 WI App 12, 345 Wis. 2d 832, 826 N.W.2d 418
State v. Roy S. Anderson, 2019 WI 97, 389 Wis. 2d 106, 935 N.W.2d 285 5, 11, 12
State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516 9
State v. St. Martin, 2011 WI 44, 334 Wis. 2d 290, 800 N.W.2d 858 15
State v. Tally-Clayborne, No. 2016AP1912-CR, 2017 WL 4676647 (Wis. Ct. App. Oct. 17, 2017)
State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996) 5
<i>State v. Washington</i> , 2005 WI App 123, , 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305
State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 5, 10
<i>Terry v. Ohio</i> , 392 U.S. 1 (1968)

Page

Other Authorities

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did law enforcement, within a minute of receiving a ShotSpotter report of shots fired at a residential address, have reasonable suspicion to stop the only person outside the address, where the person reacted to the police by grabbing at his waistband, angling one side of his body away from the officers, and speeding his pace away from them?

The circuit court concluded that police had reasonable suspicion to stop Avan Rondell Nimmer under the totality of those circumstances.

The court of appeals reversed, holding that each of the individual actions that police observed, without more, could not support reasonable suspicion.

This Court should reverse the court of appeals.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

As with any case in which this Court grants review, both oral argument and publication are customary and warranted.

INTRODUCTION

The facts here demonstrate that law enforcement had reasonable suspicion to stop Nimmer. The officers had received a ShotSpotter report of shots fired in a city neighborhood, they arrived at the reported address within a minute of the report, the only person they saw at the address was Nimmer, and Nimmer reacted to the police by walking quickly away, grabbing at something at his waist, and angling that side of his body away from police. Those facts, combined with the fact that police were investigating a crime implicating significant public safety concerns, justified the stop in this case. This Court should reverse the court of appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June 2019, the State charged Nimmer with possession of a firearm by a felon. (R. 1.) The charge resulted from a police investigation of a ShotSpotter report of shots fired at a particular address in Milwaukee. Officers drove to the location of the shots within a minute of the report, where they encountered Nimmer standing outside with his right hand in his pocket. (R. 1:1.) Upon seeing police, Nimmer began walking quickly away, keeping his left hand on his waistband, and angling that side of his body away from police. (R. 1:1.) After conducting a $Terry^1$ stop and frisk, police found a gun in the waistband of Nimmer's pants and arrested him for violating the felon-in-possession statute. (R. 1:1.)

Nimmer moved to suppress the firearm that police recovered during the stop. (R. 5:3.) He argued that the stop was unsupported by reasonable suspicion that he was engaged in criminal activity. (R. 5:2.)

At a hearing on the motion, Milwaukee Police Officer Anthony Milone testified that he was on duty on June 15, 2019, with his partner, Officer Chad Boyack. (R. 25:4–6.) Milone and Boyack were traveling in a marked squad car when they received a ShotSpotter alert of four rounds fired a few blocks away at 3390 North 21st Street. (R. 25:7.)

Officer Milone explained that ShotSpotter is a gunshot location system that uses acoustic sensors to identify gunfire and alert law enforcement to its location. (R. 25:4–5.) Milone had responded to over a thousand such alerts in his nine years as a police officer. (R. 25:6.) When responding to these alerts,

¹ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968).

Milone looks for potential victims, suspects, witnesses, or other evidence identifying the source of the shots. (R. 25:6.) When Officer Milone finds individuals at the reported location of the shots, he observes "what their response is upon sight of police, see[s] if they are shot, see[s] if they take off running, see[s] if they start grabbing any part of their clothing, any part of their body." (R. 25:6.)

Within a minute of receiving the ShotSpotter alert, Milone and Boyack observed Nimmer at the intersection of 21st and Townsend, which was "basically the exact location where the ShotSpotter came in." (R. 25:7–8, 12.) Nimmer was the only person officers saw. (R. 25:8.) Milone noticed that Nimmer, who had not yet seen the police, had his right hand in his pants pocket. (R. 25:8.) When Nimmer turned and saw the squad car, he "immediately looked away and began accelerating his walking pace." (R. 25:8.) Milone stated that based on those observations and his experience, he believed Nimmer was possibly trying to flee from them. (R. 25:8–9.)

After Nimmer sped up, he "began digging around his left side with his left hand." (R. 25:9.) At that point, Milone got out of the squad car and approached Nimmer from behind. As he did so, Nimmer turned his left side away from Milone. (R. 25:9.) In the meantime, Officer Boyack drove the squad car past Nimmer, stopped it, and stepped out. When that happened, Nimmer stopped walking. (R. 25:9–10.) Based on the ShotSpotter alert and their observations of Nimmer, the officers conducted a *Terry* stop. (R. 25:10.)

Nimmer complied, and when Milone patted Nimmer down, Nimmer informed Milone that he had a gun. (R. 25:10.) Milone then retrieved a .40 caliber pistol from Nimmer's waistband on his left side. (R. 25:10.) After learning that Nimmer had a felony conviction, the officers arrested him. (R. 25:11.) The circuit court denied Nimmer's motion to suppress. It found Officer Milone to be credible and made findings consistent with his testimony. (R. 25:35.) It found that the officers encountered Nimmer alone at the location of the ShotSpotter alert within a minute of receiving the alert. (R. 25:35; Pet-App. 112.) It found that Nimmer sped up his walking pace in reaction to seeing the officers and bladed his body to conceal his weapon. (R. 25:35–36; Pet-App. 112–13.) The key, the court found, was the close timing of the officers' observations of Nimmer following the ShotSpotter alert. (R. 25:36.) In all, the court determined, the officers were "completely appropriate in their investigation [of] the ShotSpotter complaint." (R. 25:37; Pet-App. 114.)

Nimmer pleaded guilty and was sentenced to two years' initial confinement followed by two years' extended supervision. (R. 14:1–2.)

Nimmer appealed to the court of appeals, arguing that the circuit court's decision on reasonable suspicion was wrong. The court of appeals agreed with Nimmer and reversed. *State v. Avan Rondell Nimmer*, No. 2020AP878-CR (Wis. Ct. App. Dec. 15, 2020) (per curiam) (Pet-App. 101–11). In reversing, the court isolated each of the facts present here and matched them to cases holding that those circumstances, without more, did not support reasonable suspicion. (Pet-App. 106–11.)

The State petitioned for review, which this Court granted.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Ultimately, this Court is reviewing the circuit court's denial of Nimmer's motion to suppress. This Court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but it reviews de novo whether those facts constitute reasonable suspicion. *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 17, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 (cited source omitted).

ARGUMENT

Based on the ShotSpotter alert, Nimmer's location at the alerted-to address, and his evasive behavior upon seeing law enforcement, police had reasonable suspicion to stop him.

A. Reasonable suspicion requires a totality-ofthe-circumstances analysis.

The Fourth Amendment permits law enforcement to conduct a brief investigatory *Terry* stop of a person when that action is supported by reasonable suspicion. State v. Roy S. Anderson, 2019 WI 97, ¶ 32, 389 Wis. 2d 106, 935 N.W.2d 285. Reasonable suspicion means that a police officer "possess[es] specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 21 (citation omitted). "Reasonable suspicion is a fairly low standard to meet." Roy S. Anderson, 389 Wis. 2d 106, ¶ 33. What constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common-sense, totality-of-the-circumstances test that asks, under all the facts and circumstances present, "[w]hat would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience"? State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996) (citing State v. David Paul Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83–84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990)).

Since the test focuses on the totality of the circumstances, police officers have reasonable suspicion to stop a person when they observe acts that may be individually lawful, but when taken together, allow the officers to objectively discern "a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct." *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 60. Police do not need "to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop." *Id.* at 59 (citing *David Paul Anderson*, 155

Wis. 2d at 84). In weighing reasonable suspicion, courts consider the information police receive—i.e., tips or witness reports—directing them to investigate a particular location or person. *See State v. Miller*, 2012 WI 61, ¶ 31, 341 Wis. 2d 307, 815 N.W.2d 349.

The totality of the circumstances here includes the ShotSpotter report identifying four rounds shot at a particular address, police arriving at that address within a minute of the report, police seeing Nimmer alone at that address, Nimmer's reaction speeding his pace away when seeing police, and Nimmer's grabbing at his waist and angling that side of his body away from the officers.

B. The officers here had reasonable suspicion to conduct a *Terry* stop of Nimmer based on the totality of the circumstances.

1. The ShotSpotter report should be weighed as a reliable tip.

This case does not involve a human tip, but rather a technological one. ShotSpotter is a sensor-based system that uses acoustic technology to recognize the specific sound of gunfire and pinpoint its location. (R. 25:4–5.) Based on the locations of the sensors, ShotSpotter can identify within 80 feet, and often closer, of where gunfire discharged. See Alexandra S. Gecas, Note, Gunfire Game Changer or Big Hidden Brother's Ears?: Fourth Amendment and Admissibility Quandaries Relating to *ShotSpotter* Technology, 2016 U. Ill. L. Rev. 1073, 1079-80 (2016). Identifying such gunfire "takes about forty seconds," and the system then immediately relays the gunfire's location to local police. *Id.* at 1080.

ShotSpotter serves numerous functions, from pinpointing instances of gunfire quickly to law enforcement and allowing them to efficiently respond to and investigate such reports, to deterring instances of shots fired and promoting community safety and trust. *Id.* at 1083–84. At least one study revealed that "ShotSpotter correctly detected 99.6 percent of 234 gunshots at 23 firing locations" and that it pinpointed over 90 percent of those shots within 40 feet. *Id.* at 1083.

To be sure, ShotSpotter provides no information on the identity of possible shooters or their exact whereabouts. But in a reasonable suspicion analysis, a ShotSpotter report should carry the same weight as a tip from a reliable informant.² And like any other factor in the analysis, a ShotSpotter report alone cannot likely supply reasonable suspicion for officers to conduct a *Terry* stop of every individual they see at the reported location. Yet the report reflects a potentially ongoing crime. Because of that, police following up on a ShotSpotter or any shots-fired report are duty-bound to approach or look closer at the individuals they find in the reported location.

2. The immediate timing of the police response likewise supports reasonable suspicion.

In addition, the police response to the ShotSpotter report was nearly immediate—within a minute of the report. Given that timing, and the likelihood that the shooter or witnesses with information would still be near that address

² Nimmer's suppression motion did not raise a challenge to the reliability of ShotSpotter, so there is little in this record regarding its accuracy and methodology. Still, the State is not aware of any successful legal challenges to its reliability or commentary questioning it. And at least one court has held that the ShotSpotter "system is, in effect, the equivalent of a reliable informant, and . . . is objectively more reliable than an anonymous report of gunfire." *State v. Bellamy*, No. A-2978-16T2, 2018 WL 2925724, at *4 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. June 12, 2018).

in that time, Officers Milone and Boyack were justified in focusing on any individuals present at that address. And here, the only individual was Nimmer. As Officer Milone testified, when responding to ShotSpotter reports, he typically will try to identify whether there are any victims and the source of the shots, which by necessity also requires him to read the body language and response of those present at the scene. (R. 25:6.) Officers Milone and Boyack did those precise things here. Accordingly, at that point, Officers Milone and Boyack reasonably approached Nimmer to investigate the shots fired report and were also entitled to draw inferences from how Nimmer reacted to them, which, as discussed, also supported reasonable suspicion.

3. The officers' observations of Nimmer's reaction to them likewise supported reasonable suspicion.

Here, the circuit court found Officer Milone to be credible and made findings consistent with his testimony. (R. 25:35; Pet-App. 112.) It found that the officers encountered Nimmer, and no one else, at the location of the ShotSpotter alert within a minute of receiving the alert. (R. 25:35; Pet-App. 112.) It found that Nimmer sped up his walking pace in reaction to seeing the officers, dug at his waistband, and angled his body in a manner to conceal his weapon. (R. 25:35– 36; Pet-App. 112–13.)

The circuit court's findings were not clearly erroneous and they support its determination that the officers were "completely appropriate in their investigation [of] the ShotSpotter complaint." (R. 25:37; Pet-App. 114.) And while those actions by Nimmer each could have had innocent explanations, those actions, in context with the entire encounter, allowed the officers to reasonably infer that Nimmer had a connection to the shooting. The officers were justified in stopping him. Indeed, they would have been derelict in their jobs had they allowed him to simply walk away. *See David Paul Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d at 84 (citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 23 (1968)) (noting that officer's failure to investigate a person's flight from police "would have been poor police work").

4. The nature of the crime investigated also weighs toward reasonable suspicion.

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